EFFECTS OF ARMED CONFLICTS ON TREATIES

[Agenda item 5]

DOCUMENT A/CN.4/578*

Third report on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties, by Mr. Ian Brownlie, Special Rapporteur

[Original: English] [1 March 2007]

CONTENTS

NATIONAL SECTION		Paragraphs
	ats cited in the present report	
Works cited in the pre	sent report	
Introduction		1–5
Draft articles		6–67
Draft article 1.	Scope	
	Comment	6–10
Draft article 2.	Use of terms	
	Comment	11–15
	(a) Treaty	11
	(b) Armed conflict	12–15
Draft article 3.	Non-automatic termination or suspension	
	Comment	16–19
Draft article 4.	The indicia of susceptibility to termination or suspension of treaties in case of an armed conflict	
	Comment	20-25
Draft article 5.	Express provisions on the operation of treaties	
	Comment	26–27
Draft article 5 bis.	The conclusion of treaties during armed conflict	
Drait article 3 ois.	Comment	26–27 28 29
Draft article 6	[Withdrawn]	20
Draft article 6 bis.	The law applicable in armed conflict	
	Comment	
Draft article 7.	The operation of treaties on the basis of necessary implication from their object and purpose	
	Comment	32–56
	(a) Is draft article 7 necessary?	34
	(b) The inclusion in paragraph 2 of reference to treaties codifying jus cogens rules(c) The role of an indicative list of categories of treaties	35 36
	(d) Opposition to the use of an indicative list	37
	(e) The enumeration of factors relevant to the determination that a given treaty should continue	31
	in operation in the event of armed conflict	38
	(f) The formulation of draft article 7	39–43
	(g) Retaining the categories in draft article 7	44–45
	(h) The significance of State practice	46–48
	(i) The role of lex specialis	49–50
	(j) The categories of treaties to be included in draft article 7	51–55
	(k) The options available	56

^{*} Incorporating A/CN.4/578/Corr.1.

Draft article 8.	Mode of suspension or termination		63
	Comment	57	63
Draft article 9.	The resumption of suspended treaties		63
	Comment	58	63
Draft article 10.	Effect of the exercise of the right to individual or collective self-defence on a treaty		63
	Comment	59–62	63
Draft article 11.	Decisions of the Security Council		64
	Comment	63–64	64
Draft article 12.	Status of third States as neutrals		64
	Comment	65	64
Draft article 13.	Cases of termination or suspension		64
	Comment	66	64
Draft article 14.	The revival of terminated or suspended treaties		64
	Comment	67	64
Annex	Text of draft articles (as proposed in the present report)		65

Multilateral instruments cited in the present report

Source

Vienna Convention on the law of treaties (Vienna, 23 May 1969)

United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1155, No. 18232, p. 331.

Vienna Convention on succession of States in respect of treaties (Vienna, 23 August 1978)

Ibid., vol. 1946, No. 33356, p. 3.

Works cited in the present report

McNair, Lord

The Law of Treaties. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1961. 789 p.

REUTER, Paul

Introduction to the Law of Treaties. 2nd rev. ed. London, Kegan Paul, 1995. 296 p. Translated by José Mico and Peter Haggenmacher. (Publication of the Graduate Institute of International Studies, Geneva)

Introduction

- 1. As a consequence of the exigencies of completing various agenda items, or completing a first reading, experienced by the International Law Commission in the final session of the quinquennium, the results of the first and second reports on the present topic¹ did not include embarking upon a first reading. Moreover, the second report was limited to a summary of the points made during the debates on the first report in the Commission and the Sixth Committee, respectively. At the fifty-eighth session of the Commission, in 2006, there was a somewhat perfunctory discussion of the second report.
- $^{\rm l}$ <code>Yearbook</code> ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, and <code>Yearbook</code> ... 2006, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/570, respectively.

- 2. In the circumstances, the first report stands as the definitive study, together with the second report as a supplement. The second report contained no new drafting.
- 3. In preparing the present report, account has been taken of the useful memorandum prepared by the Secretariat, entitled "The effect of armed conflict on treaties: an examination of practice and doctrine".²
- 4. In the present report, the commentary relies upon cross reference to the first report commentaries.
- 5. Draft article 6 of the previous reports has been withdrawn.

 $^{^2\,\}mbox{A/CN.4/550}$ and Corr.1–2 (available on the website of the Commission).

Draft articles

Draft article 1. Scope

The present draft articles apply to the effects of an armed conflict in respect of treaties between States.

Comment

- 6. The provisions of article 1 of the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties (hereinafter the 1969 Vienna Convention) have been followed (see also article 1 of the Vienna Convention on succession of States in respect of treaties). The term "treaty" is defined in draft article 2 below.
- 7. In the Sixth Committee several delegations expressed the view that the draft articles should apply to articles which were being provisionally applied.³ The issue can be resolved by reference to the provisions of article 25 of the 1969 Vienna Convention itself. There are further complexities but it is not appropriate to set about elaborating the provisions of the Convention.
- 8. During the debates at the fifty-seventh session of the Commission, in 2005, the view was expressed that the topic should be expanded by the inclusion of treaties entered into by international organizations. Similar views were expressed in the Sixth Committee.
- 9. The Special Rapporteur is of the opinion that the proposed expansion is based upon a less than mature consideration of the difficulties of "adding on" a qualitatively different subject matter. The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland expressed the following reservations in the Sixth Committee in 2006:

In relation to the inclusion in the study of treaties involving international organizations, the United Kingdom considers that such treaties are perhaps best not included. As we have commented in relation to the topic of responsibility of international organizations, there is a vast variety of international organizations and their functions. We question whether the specificity of such organizations and their treaty arrangements could be dealt with in this study. Moreover, the issues concerning international organizations and armed conflict may be very different to those arising from States and armed conflict.

10. The Special Rapporteur considers these are considerations which should not be rejected lightly.

Draft article 2. Use of terms

For the purposes of the present draft articles:

- (a) "treaty" means an international agreement concluded between States in written form and governed by international law, whether embodied in a single instrument or in two or more related instruments, and whatever its particular designation;
- (b) "armed conflict" means a state of war or a conflict which involves armed operations which by their nature or extent are likely to affect the operation of treaties between States parties to the armed conflict or between State parties to the armed conflict and third States, regardless of a formal declaration of war or other declaration by any or all of the parties to the armed conflict.

Comment

(a) Treaty

11. The definition is taken from the 1969 Vienna Convention. The meaning and application of the definition is elucidated in the commentary of the Commission in the report of the Commission to the General Assembly in 1966.⁷ The definition is adequate for present purposes and, in any case, it is not appropriate for the Commission to seek to revise the Convention.

(b) Armed conflict

- 12. The reader is referred to the substantial commentary included in the first⁸ and second reports.⁹ This material is now supplemented in certain respects. In the first place, the division of opinion in the Sixth Committee on the question of including internal armed conflict continued in 2006. The full census is as follows:
- (a) States opposed to inclusion: Algeria, ¹⁰ Austria ¹¹, China ¹², Colombia, ¹³ India, ¹⁴ Indonesia, ¹⁵ Iran (Islamic Republic of), ¹⁶ Portugal, ¹⁷ the Russian Federation ¹⁸ and the United Kingdom (a preliminary view); ¹⁹

³ See comments by the Netherlands (*Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 40); nd Malaysia (*ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 48).

⁴ See Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part Two), para. 129.

⁵ See the comments by Austria (Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 25); Bulgaria (ibid., para. 20); China (ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 8, and ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 44); Indonesia (ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 9); Jordan (ibid., 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 32, and ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 85); Morocco (ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 11th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.11), para. 41); Nigeria (ibid., 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 47); and Romania (ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 63). This expansion of the topic was opposed by the Republic of Korea (ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 31); India (ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 28); Malaysia (ibid., para. 48); and the United Kingdom (ibid., para. 44);

⁶ Summarized in Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 44.

⁷ Yearbook ... 1966, vol. II, document A/6309/Rev.1, pp. 187–189, paras. (1)–(8).

⁸ Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, paras. 16–24.

 $^{^{9}}$ <code>Yearbook</code> ... 2006, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/570, paras. $8{-}13.\,$

¹⁰ Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 64.

¹¹ *Ibid.*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 26, and *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 25.

¹² *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 8, and *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), paras. 45–46.

¹³ *Ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 64.

¹⁴ *Ibid.*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 28.

¹⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 19.

¹⁶ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 2, and *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 32.

¹⁷ *Ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session*, *Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 76.

¹⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 74.

¹⁹ *Ibid.*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 44.

- (b) States in favour of inclusion: Greece, ²⁰ Japan, ²¹ Malaysia, ²² Morocco, ²³ Nigeria, ²⁴ the Netherlands, ²⁵ Poland, ²⁶ Romania, ²⁷ Sierra Leone ²⁸ and Slovakia. ²⁹
- 13. The tally is thus 10 delegations opposed to inclusion and 10 delegations in favour of inclusion. The division of opinion has been reflected in the debates in the Commission.³⁰
- 14. In conclusion, the following points can be made by way of emphasis. In the first place, the policy considerations point in different directions. Secondly, in practice, and at the factual level, there is sometimes no distinction between international and non-international armed conflicts. Thirdly, the drafting of draft article 2 (*b*) avoids according an automatic effect to non-international armed conflict. And, in this connection, attention must be paid to draft article 3 below.
- 15. In any case, it is common for colleagues to ignore the qualification attached to the definition of "armed conflict". The definition is proposed "for the purpose of the present draft articles". It is not the business of the Commission to seek to design an all-purpose definition of "armed conflict".

Draft article 3. Non-automatic termination or suspension

The outbreak of an armed conflict does not necessarily terminate or suspend the operation of treaties as:

- (a) between the parties to the armed conflict;
- (b) between one or more parties to the armed conflict and a third State.

Comment

16. The reader is referred to the commentaries provided in the first³¹ and second reports.³² There are two alterations to the text. The title has been changed and the phrase *ipso facto* eliminated. In the text the term *ipso facto* has been deleted and replaced by "necessarily".

- 17. As explained in the first report, draft article 3 is the most significant product of the resolution adopted by the Institute of International Law in 1985.³³ The majority of the delegations in the Sixth Committee did not find draft article 3 to be problematical. Austria expressed the view that the "underlying concept of draft article 3 constituted the point of departure of the whole set of draft articles".³⁴ As a number of delegations have recognized, draft article 3 reflects an underlying policy and is simply a point of departure. The provisions of draft article 3 are without prejudice to the operation of draft articles 4–7 which follow. This series of draft articles is to be read in sequence and conjointly.
- 18. Certain delegations opposed the replacement of "*ipso facto*" with "necessarily", on the ground that "necessarily" is less incisive.³⁵ In the opinion of the Special Rapporteur there is no evident difference of meaning between the two terms.
- 19. The general opinion in the Sixth Committee during the fifty-seventh and fifty-eighth sessions of the Commission, in 2005 and 2006, was that draft article 3 played a useful role and should be retained.
- Draft article 4. The indicia of susceptibility to termination or suspension of treaties in case of an armed conflict
- 1. The susceptibility to termination or suspension of treaties in case of an armed conflict is determined in accordance with the intention of the parties at the time the treaty was concluded.
- 2. The intention of the parties to a treaty relating to its susceptibility to termination or suspension shall be determined in accordance:
- (a) with the provisions of articles 31 and 32 of the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties; and
- (b) the nature and extent of the armed conflict in question.

Comment

- 20. The reader is referred to the commentaries provided in the first³⁶ and second reports.³⁷
- 21. The reference to intention attracted considerable attention in the Sixth Committee and opinion was divided as follows:

²⁰ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 36.

²¹ Ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 28.

²² *Ibid.*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 50.

²³ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 11th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.11), para. 41.

²⁴ *Ibid.*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 47.

²⁵ Ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 33.

²⁶ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 18.

²⁷ *Ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session*, *Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 63.

²⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 70.

²⁹ Ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 45.

³⁰ See *Yearbook* ... 2005, vol. II (Part Two), paras. 139–140; and *Yearbook* ... 2006, vol. II (Part Two), paras. 192–193.

 $^{^{31}}$ Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, paras. 25–28.

 $^{^{32}\ \}textit{Yearbook}\ \dots\ 2006,\ \text{vol.}\ \text{II}\ (\text{Part One}),\ \text{document}\ A/\text{CN}.4/570,\ \text{paras}.\ 14-17.$

³³ Institute of International Law, *Yearbook*, vol. 61, part II, session of Helsinki 1985 (Paris, Pedone, 1986), pp. 278–283.

³⁴ Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 27.

³⁵ See Austria, *ibid.*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 27; Colombia, *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 65; Jordan, *ibid.*, para. 87; and Malaysia, *ibid.*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 51. See also the comment of China, *ibid.*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 48.

 $^{^{36}}$ Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, paras. 29–54.

 $^{^{\}rm 37}$ Yearbook ... 2006, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/570, paras. 18–28.

- (a) States in favour of the criterion of intention: Algeria,³⁸ China,³⁹ Greece,⁴⁰ India,⁴¹ Iran (Islamic Republic of),⁴² Jordan,⁴³ Malaysia,⁴⁴ Romania⁴⁵ and the United Kingdom.⁴⁶
- (*b*) States regarding the criterion of intention as problematical: Austria, ⁴⁷ Bulgaria, ⁴⁸ Colombia, ⁴⁹ France, ⁵⁰ Japan, ⁵¹ Portugal, ⁵² the Republic of Korea, ⁵³ and the United States of America. ⁵⁴
- 22. There was a similar division of opinion during the debates in the Commission.⁵⁵ The quality of the debate was not enhanced by assertions of omissions from draft article 4, which were mistaken, or by an unwillingness of some colleagues to read the text of draft article 4 as a whole, and in relation to the following articles. Draft article 4 refers to articles 31–32 of the 1969 Vienna Convention by reference, and yet some States, and some colleagues, have suggested that there should be reference to the text, or the object and purpose, of the treaty. The provisions of article 31 read as follows:

General rule of interpretation

- 1. A treaty shall be interpreted in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in the light of its object and purpose.
- 2. The context for the purpose of the interpretation of a treaty shall comprise, in addition to the text, including its preamble and annexes:
 - (a) Any agreement relating to the treaty which was made between all the parties in connexion with the conclusion of the treaty;
- ³⁸ See *Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 39.
- ³⁹ Ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 9, and ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 47.
- ⁴⁰ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session*, *Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 37.
- ⁴¹ *Ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session*, *Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 28.
 - 42 *Ibid.*, para. 32.
- ⁴³ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 30, and *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 88.
- ⁴⁴ *Ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 52.
- ⁴⁵ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session*, *Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 41.
- ⁴⁶ Ibid., 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 1, and ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 44.
- ⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 27.
- ⁴⁸ *Ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session*, *Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 23.
 - 49 *Ibid.*, para. 65.
- ⁵⁰ Ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 11th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.11), para. 75.
 - ⁵¹ *Ibid.*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 22.
- ⁵² *Ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 77.
- ⁵³ *Ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 34.
 - ⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 32.
- ⁵⁵ See *Yearbook ... 2005*, vol. II (Part Two), paras. 151–154, and *Yearbook ... 2006*, vol. II (Part Two), para. 203.

- (b) Any instrument which was made by one or more parties in connexion with the conclusion of the treaty and accepted by the other parties as an instrument related to the treaty.
- 3. There shall be taken into account, together with the context:
- (a) Any subsequent agreement between the parties regarding the interpretation of the treaty or the application of its provisions;
- (b) Any subsequent practice in the application of the treaty which establishes the agreement of the parties regarding its interpretation;
- (c) Any relevant rules of international law applicable in the relations between the parties.
- 4. A special meaning shall be given to a term if it is established that the parties so intended.
- 23. And thus there is in these provisions reference both to the text and to the object and purpose. A connected point is that it is not appropriate for the Special Rapporteur to reinvent the wheel, and, in any case, the Commission has no mandate to revise and amend the 1969 Vienna Convention.
- 24. The opposition to the reliance upon intention is normally based upon the problems of ascertaining the intention of the parties, but this is true of so many legal rules, including legislation and constitutional provisions. The statute of the Commission provides no warrant for post-modernist heresies. In a general perspective, the difference between the two points of view expressed in the Sixth Committee is probably not, in practical terms, substantial. As article 31 of the 1969 Vienna Convention makes clear, the meaning of a treaty may be proved by a variety of means. In any event, the existence and interpretation of a treaty is not a matter of intention as an abstraction, but an intention of the parties "as expressed in the words used by them and in the light of the surrounding circumstances". 56 The ultimate consideration is, what is the aim of interpretation? Surely, it is to discover the intention of the parties and not something else.57
- 25. It has been suggested that the legal consequences of suspension or termination should be defined.⁵⁸ But to do that would be to elaborate the provisions of the 1969 Vienna Convention, which is not an appropriate task.

Draft article 5. Express provisions on the operation of treaties

Treaties applicable to situations of armed conflict in accordance with their express provisions are operative in case of an armed conflict, without prejudice to the conclusion of lawful agreements between the parties to the armed conflict involving suspension or waiver of the relevant treaties.

⁵⁶ McNair, *The Law of Treaties*, p. 365.

⁵⁷ See Reuter, *Introduction to the Law of Treaties*, p. 96, paras. 141–142.

⁵⁸ See the statement by Austria, *Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 27.

Comment

- 26. The reader is referred to the commentaries provided in the first⁵⁹ and second reports.⁶⁰ While the provisions of draft article 5 received general support, both in the Commission and in the Sixth Committee, several suggestions were made to the effect that it was necessary to present the two paragraphs as separate articles. The Special Rapporteur has recognized the force of these suggestions and proposes the inclusion of former paragraph 2, of draft article 5, in new draft article 5 bis.
- 27. On a strict view of drafting this draft article was redundant, but it was generally accepted that such a provision should be included for the sake of clarity.

Draft article 5 bis. The conclusion of treaties during armed conflict

The outbreak of an armed conflict does not affect the capacity of the parties to the armed conflict to conclude treaties in accordance with the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties.

Comment

28. This provision, previously included as paragraph 2 of draft article 5, is now presented as a separate draft article. The term "competence" has been deleted and replaced by "capacity". This draft article is intended to reflect the experience of belligerents in an armed conflict concluding agreements between themselves during the conflict.⁶¹

Draft article 6

29. Draft article 6 has been withdrawn by the Special Rapporteur.

Draft article 6 bis. The law applicable in armed conflict

The application of standard-setting treaties, including treaties concerning human rights and environmental protection, continues in time of armed conflict, but their application is determined by reference to the applicable *lex specialis*, namely, the law applicable in armed conflict.

Comment

30. This new draft provision originates in certain responses to draft article 5, in its earlier form. A number of delegations in the Sixth Committee proposed the inclusion of a provision based upon the principle stated by ICJ in the *Nuclear Weapons* advisory opinion ⁶² relating to the relation between human rights and the applicable *lex*

- 59 Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, paras. 55–58.
- 60 Yearbook ... 2006, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/570, paras. 29–31.
- 61 $\it Yearbook \dots 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, paras, 56–57.$
- ⁶² Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion, *I.C.J. Reports* 1996, p. 240, para. 25.

- *specialis*, the law applicable in armed conflict which is designed to regulate the conduct of hostilities.⁶³ Similar views were expressed in the Commission.⁶⁴
- 31. While the principle now embodied in draft article 6 *bis* may be said to be, strictly speaking, redundant, the role of the provision in this expository draft is to provide a useful clarification.

Draft article 7. The operation of treaties on the basis of necessary implication from their object and purpose

- 1. In the case of treaties the object and purpose of which involve the necessary implication that they continue in operation during an armed conflict, the incidence of an armed conflict will not as such inhibit their operation.
 - 2. Treaties of this character include the following:
- (a) treaties expressly applicable in case of an armed conflict;
- (b) treaties declaring, creating, or regulating permanent rights or a permanent regime or status;
- (c) treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation and analogous agreements concerning private rights;
 - (d) treaties for the protection of human rights;
- (e) treaties relating to the protection of the environment;
- (f) treaties relating to international watercourses and related installations and facilities;
 - (g) multilateral law-making treaties;
- (h) treaties relating to the settlement of disputes between States by peaceful means, including resort to conciliation, mediation, arbitration and the International Court of Justice;
- (i) obligations arising under multilateral conventions relating to commercial arbitration and the enforcement of awards;
 - (j) treaties relating to diplomatic relations;
 - (k) treaties relating to consular relations.

Comment

32. The reader is referred to the commentaries provided in the first⁶⁵ and second⁶⁶ reports.⁶⁷

⁶³ See the views of the United States, *Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 33.

⁶⁴ See *Yearbook* ... 2005, vol. II (Part Two), para. 159; and *Yearbook* ... 2006, vol. II (Part Two), para. 206.

 $^{^{65}}$ <code>Yearbook</code> ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, paras. 62–118.

⁶⁶ Yearbook ... 2006, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/570, paras. 34–42.

⁶⁷ See *Yearbook* ... 2005, vol. II (Part Two), paras. 167–175; and *Yearbook* ... 2006, vol. II (Part Two), paras. 209–211.

33. Draft article 7 attracted comments both fairly numerous and very varied in content. The points of view expressed can be classified as follows:

(a) Is draft article 7 necessary?

34. A number of delegations in the Sixth Committee adopted the position that the whole provision was redundant, in view of the role already played by draft articles 3–4. The Special Rapporteur had some sympathy with this position and consequently made the following suggestion:

At the end of the day, it may be that the solution lies within the realm of presentation. On this basis draft article 7 would be deleted: as has been emphasized already, its purpose was indicative and expository. The question then is to find an appropriate container for the materials on which draft article 7 has been built. The obvious answer would be an annex containing an analysis of the State practice and case law which could be prepared by the Secretariat with assistance from the Special Rapporteur.⁶⁸

- (b) The inclusion in paragraph 2 of reference to treaties codifying jus cogens rules
- 35. The Special Rapporteur does not regard the inclusion of treaties or treaty provisions codifying *jus cogens* rules⁶⁹ as acceptable. Such possibility raises a major question of general international law, and one which is notoriously difficult. Moreover, this category is not qualitatively similar to the other categories which have been proposed.
 - (c) The role of an indicative list of categories of treaties
- 36. In the Sixth Committee at least five delegations accepted the role of an indicative list of categories of treaties, though with reservations relating to the substance of the categories proposed.⁷⁰
 - (d) Opposition to the use of an indicative list
- 37. A number of delegations were opposed to, or sceptical about, the viability of, the use of an indicative list of categories of treaties.⁷¹
- (e) The enumeration of factors relevant to the determination that a given treaty should continue in operation in the event of armed conflict
- 38. In the Sixth Committee six delegations expressed support for the identification of factors relevant to the determination that a given treaty should continue in

operation in the event of armed conflict.⁷² It is worth noting that this field of opinion was in favour of the retention of draft article 7 in some form.

(f) The formulation of draft article 7

39. In the debate in the Commission in the 2005 session, the policy of the provisions of draft article 7 was explained by the Special Rapporteur as follows:

The Special Rapporteur observed that draft article 7 dealt with the species of treaties the object and purpose of which involved the necessary implication that they would continue in operation during an armed conflict. Paragraph 1 established the basic principle that the incidence of armed conflict would not, as such, inhibit the operation of those treaties. Paragraph 2 contained an indicative list of some such categories of treaties. It was observed that the effect of such categorization was to create a set of weak rebuttable presumptions as to the object and purpose of those types of treaties, i.e. as evidence of the object and purpose of the treaty to the effect that it survives a war. He clarified that while he did not agree with all the categories of treaties in the list, he had nonetheless included them as potential candidates for consideration by the Commission. The list reflected the views of several generations of writers and was to a considerable extent reflected in available State practice, particularly United States practice dating back to the 1940s. While closely linked to draft articles 3 and 4, the draft article was primarily expository and could accordingly be excluded.73

- 40. The fact is that the provisions of draft article 7 are very flexible. Moreover, it is not exclusive to the categories introduced but applies generally. Thus the second paragraph provides that: "Treaties of this character include the following ..."
- 41. The use of categories was the object of carefully articulated comment by the United States in the Sixth Committee, at the sixtieth session of the General Assembly, in 2005, and it must be quoted once more:

Article 7 deals with the operation of treaties on the basis of implications drawn from their object and purpose. It is the most complex of the draft articles. It lists 12 categories of treaties that, owing to their object and purpose, imply that they should be continued in operation during an armed conflict. This is problematic because attempts at such broad categorization of treaties always seem to fail. Treaties do not automatically fall into one of several categories. Moreover, even with respect to classifying particular provisions, the language of the provisions and the intention of the parties may differ from similar provisions in treaties between other parties. It would be more productive if the Commission could enumerate factors that might lead to the conclusion that a treaty or some of its provisions should continue (or be suspended or terminated) in the event of armed conflict. The identification of such factors would, in many cases, provide useful information and guidance to States on how to proceed.⁷⁴

42. As was pointed out in the second report,⁷⁵ the categories employed in draft article 7 may stand in need of improvements, but the fact is that most of the categories are derived directly from the policy prescriptions and legal assessments of leading authorities, together with a

 $^{^{68}}$ Yearbook ... 2006,vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/570, para. 37.

⁶⁹ See the memorandum prepared by the Secretariat(A/CN.4/550 and Corr.1–2, para. 31), available on the website of the Commission.

⁷⁰ See Bulgaria, Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 23; Jordan, ibid., para. 89; Portugal, ibid., para. 78; the Republic of Korea, ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 36; and Romania, ibid., 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 43.

⁷¹ See the position of India, *ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 64; Poland, *ibid.*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 19; the United Kingdom, *ibid.*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 1; and the United States, *ibid.*, para. 34, and *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 41.

⁷² See the views of China, *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 49; Colombia, *ibid.*, para. 67; India, *ibid.*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 29; Malaysia, *ibid.*, para. 54; the United Kingdom, *ibid.*, para. 44; and the United States, *ibid.*, *Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 32, and, *ibid.*, *Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee*,19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 41.

⁷³ *Yearbook ... 2005*, vol. II (Part Two), para. 167.

⁷⁴ Summarized in *Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 20th meeting, para. 34.

 $^{^{75}\ \}textit{Yearbook}\ \dots\ 2006,\ \text{vol.}\ \text{II}\ (\text{Part One}),\ \text{document}\ A/\text{CN}.4/570,\ \text{para}.\ 34.$

significant amount of jurisprudence and practice. If the first report⁷⁶ is properly examined, it can be seen that the categories employed are not abstract but have strong roots in the matrix of legal sources.

- 43. Against this background it can be argued that the categories reflect the very factors to which the United States refers in the statement quoted above.
 - (g) Retaining the categories in draft article 7
- 44. In the second report the Special Rapporteur made a tentative proposal to delete draft article 7, but to produce an annex containing an analysis of the State practice and case law, which could be prepared by the Secretariat. After further thought, the Special Rapporteur has discarded this proposal and has decided to maintain the original approach adopted in draft article 7.
- 45. The reasons for this decision are as follows (and in no particular order):
- (a) The existing form of draft article 7 still provides a good basis for a fruitful discussion, together with the relevant sections of the memorandum prepared by the Secretariat;78
- (b) The proposals for an alternative approach by way of relevant factors do not have enough merit and would probably increase the ills which have been accredited to the categories;
- (c) The categories put forward by the Special Rapporteur are based upon a considerable quantity of legal experience and doctrine;
- (d) The relation between the sequence of draft articles is legally significant and should be maintained.
 - (h) The significance of State practice
- 46. A number of delegations have pointed out that some of the categories of treaties offered as candidates for inclusion in draft article 7 do not find much support in the practice of States. ⁷⁹ Having surveyed the available legal sources, it becomes clear that there are two different situations. The first relates to those cases, such as treaties creating permanent regimes, which have a firm base in State practice. The second situation relates to cases which have a firm basis in the jurisprudence of municipal courts and some executive advice to courts, but are not supported by State practice in a conventional mode.
- ⁷⁶ Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, paras. 65 et seq.
- $^{77}\ \textit{Yearbook}\ \dots\ 2006,\ \text{vol.}\ \text{II}\ (\text{Part One}),\ \text{document}\ A/\text{CN}.4/570,\ \text{para}.\ 37.$
 - ⁷⁸ See footnote 2 above.

- 47. These considerations lead to the important question: should the Commission close the door to those categories of treaty which have substantial recognition in reliable legal sources, in the absence of support by State practice as such? Given the mandate of the Commission to promote "the progressive development of international law and* its codification", 80 it would seem to be inappropriate to insist that the categories of treaties admitted to the second paragraph of the draft article should all constitute a part of existing general international law. This is not the applicable standard of admission.
- 48. With reference to evidence of State practice, two other points should be made. In the first place, the likelihood of a substantial flow of information from States is small. And, secondly, the identification of relevant State practice is, in this sphere, unusually difficult. It often is the case that apparent examples of State practice concern legal principles which bear no relation to the effect of armed conflict on treaties as a precise legal issue. For example, some of the modern State practice which has been cited⁸¹ refers, for the most part, to the effect of a fundamental change of circumstances, so or to the supervening impossibility of performance, and is accordingly irrelevant.

(i) The role of lex specialis

- 49. In the Sixth Committee a number of delegations indicated that draft article 7 needed clarification in respect of the role of *lex specialis*. Accordingly, it should be made clear that the implication of continuity does not affect the application of the law of armed conflict as the *lex specialis* applicable in times of armed conflict.⁸³
- 50. The Special Rapporteur agrees that such clarification is desirable and therefore proposes the inclusion of draft article 6 *bis*.
 - (j) The categories of treaties to be included in draft article 7
- 51. It has already been indicated that the Special Rapporteur has decided to maintain draft article 7 in its present form. Notwithstanding the criticisms expressed in some quarters, the existing format still provides a useful starting point for further debate. It must also be recalled that a proportion of the categories deployed are supported by the legal sources, including some State practice. It may be that, if the use of categories of treaties is maintained, the existing selection of 11 categories should be varied.
- 52. In examining the available materials careful account has been taken of the 16 categories proposed

⁷⁹ See the views of Chile, Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 7; Jordan, ibid., 18th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.18), para. 89; Malaysia, ibid., 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 54; and the Republic of Korea, ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 36.

⁸⁰ Art. 1 of the statute of the Commission.

⁸¹ See A/CN.4/550 and Corr.1-2 (footnote 2 above), paras. 82-91.

⁸² See the analysis of the conflict in the former Yugoslavia, ibid., paras, 111-113.

⁸³ See the views of the Republic of Korea, *Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 36, and the United Kingdom, *ibid.*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 1. The United States made a similar observation in the context of draft article 5, *ibid.*, para. 33.

in the memorandum prepared by the Secretariat (paras. 17–78). The selection proposed therein overlaps substantially with the selection produced in draft article 7 in the first and second reports on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties. No doubt some of the categories in the memorandum not represented in the work of the Special Rapporteur may receive sponsorship in the future, either in the Sixth Committee or in the Commission. In the meanwhile, the selection proposed by the Special Rapporteur has been maintained.

- 53. It is to be noted that there have been very few proposals for the deletion of the categories deployed by the Special Rapporteur. However, the United Kingdom expressed scepticism concerning the inclusion of treaties relating to the protection of the environment.⁸⁵
- 54. By way of emphasis, it should be stated that the categories are indicative and are expressed *not* to be an exclusive list. Thus draft article 7, paragraph 1, provides clearly that "the incidence of an armed conflict will not *as such** inhibit their operation". In the second place, the provision does not seek to prejudice the question of the applicable law, whether this constitutes *lex specialis* or otherwise. The logical progression must be that if the operation of a treaty is inhibited, then *necessarily* it will not form part of the applicable law.
- 55. In conclusion, draft article 7 is indicative and it is paragraph 1 which governs. Consequently, the "object and purpose" criterion is generally applicable. Draft article 7 is ancillary to draft articles 3–4.

(k) The options available

- 56. It is useful to end this long recital with a list of options which are available in the light of the various discussions of draft article 7. Four options appear to be available:
- (a) The deletion of the draft article on the basis that it is not needed because draft articles 3–4 already do the work;
- (b) The maintenance of the draft article in its present form but with some variations in the identification of appropriate categories of treaties;
- (c) The substitution of a new paragraph 2 relying not upon categories of treaties but upon relevant factors or criteria;
- (d) The deletion of draft article 7 accompanied by the preparation of an annex containing an analysis of the State practice and case law.

Draft article 8. Mode of suspension or termination

In case of an armed conflict the mode of suspension or termination shall be the same as in those forms of suspension or termination included in the provisions of articles 42 to 45 of the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties.

Comment

57. In the first report it was stated that the point in play here stems from the consideration that suspension or termination does not take place *ipso facto* and by operation of law.⁸⁶

Draft article 9. The resumption of suspended treaties

- 1. The operation of a treaty suspended as a consequence of an armed conflict shall be resumed provided that this is determined in accordance with the intention of the parties at the time the treaty was concluded.
- 2. The intention of the parties to a treaty, the operation of which has been suspended as a consequence of an armed conflict, concerning the susceptibility of the treaty to resumption of operation shall be determined in accordance:
- (a) with the provisions of articles 31 and 32 of the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties; and
- (b) with the nature and extent of the armed conflict in question.

Comment

58. Draft article 9 constitutes the further development of draft article 4, which lays down the general criterion of intention.

Draft article 10. Effect of the exercise of the right to individual or collective self-defence on a treaty

A State exercising its rights of individual or collective self-defence in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations is entitled to suspend in whole or in part the operation of a treaty incompatible with the exercise of that right, subject to any consequences resulting from a later determination by the Security Council of that State as an aggressor.

Comment

59. This draft replaces the text of former draft article 10 and is taken from article 7 of the resolution of the Institute of International Law adopted in 1985.⁸⁷ It will be recalled that the pertinent provisions of that resolution were set forth (as an alternative approach) in the first report.⁸⁸ The purpose of the new draft is to reflect the concerns expressed, both in the Commission and in the Sixth Committee, to the effect that the previous version of the draft article left open the possibility that there would be no difference in the legal effect concerning treaty relations between an aggressor State and a State acting in self-defence. In the Sixth Committee such opinions were expressed by Algeria, ⁸⁹ China, ⁹⁰ France, ⁹¹

⁸⁴ A/CN.4/550 and Corr.1–2 (see footnote 2 above).

⁸⁵ Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 1.

 $^{^{86}}$ Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552, para. 119.

⁸⁷ See footnote 33 above.

 $^{^{88}\ \}textit{Yearbook}\ \dots\ 2005,\ \text{vol.}\ \text{II}\ (\text{Part One}),\ \text{document}\ \text{A/CN.4/552},\ \text{para.}\ 123.$

⁸⁹ Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 64.

⁹⁰ *Ibid.*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), para. 10.

⁹¹ *Ibid.*, 11th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.11), para. 75.

Greece, ⁹² Iran (Islamic Republic of), ⁹³ Japan, ⁹⁴ Malaysia ⁹⁵ and Morocco. ⁹⁶

60. The earlier version of the draft article read as follows:

The incidence of the termination or suspension of a treaty shall not be affected by the legality of the conduct of the parties to the armed conflict according either to the principles of general international law or the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations.⁹⁷

61. The replacement of the earlier text is called for on a pragmatic basis, as being a necessary clarification. However, the need for clarification arises in fact from a misunderstanding of the former version. The former draft was intended as a corollary to draft article 3. The outbreak of an armed conflict does not lead automatically to termination or suspension. In any event, this principle of continuity is obviously without prejudice to the law applicable to the relations of the States concerned, including the law relating to the use or threat of force by States, and the powers of the Security Council under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations. There is an important factor of legal security involved. This element was expressed in the Sixth Committee by the United Kingdom:

We think that this draft article is broadly along the right lines. In accordance with our view that this topic is essentially one that concerns the operation of the law of treaties, we do not think that this is the right place in which to review the law on the use of force. We, of course, agree with the general proposition that an aggressor State should not benefit from its aggression. Nevertheless we also share the Special Rapporteur's view that to allow a simple, unilateral assertion of an illegal use of force as a basis for the termination or suspension of treaties is likely to be inimical to the stability of treaty relations.⁹⁹

62. The root of the difference of opinion is technical and legal. The principle of continuity (as in draft articles 3–4) is applied on an ordinal, or sequential, basis, and it applies across the board. Consequently, the principle is entirely without prejudice to the operation of the applicable law, and it is not a principle of validation.

Draft article 11. Decisions of the Security Council

These articles are without prejudice to the legal effects of decisions of the Security Council in accordance with the provisions of Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations.

Comment

63. The proviso is not strictly necessary but is nonetheless useful in an expository draft. It may be recalled

⁹² *Ibid.*, 19th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.19), para. 37.

that article 75 of the 1969 Vienna Convention provides as follows:

Case of an aggressor State

The provisions of the present Convention are without prejudice to any obligation in relation to a treaty which may arise for an aggressor State in consequence of measures taken in conformity with the Charter of the United Nations with reference to that State's aggression.

64. This draft article received general support both in the Commission and in the Sixth Committee.

Draft article 12. Status of third States as neutrals

The present draft articles are without prejudice to the status of third States as neutrals in relation to an armed conflict.

Comment

65. This proviso is not strictly necessary but has a pragmatic purpose. This draft article received general support both in the Commission and in the Sixth Committee.

Draft article 13. Cases of termination or suspension

The present draft articles are without prejudice to the termination or suspension of treaties as a consequence of:

- (a) the agreement of the parties; or
- (b) a material breach; or
- (c) supervening impossibility of performance; or
- (d) a fundamental change of circumstances.

Comment

66. Once again it can be said that such a reservation states the obvious. However, it is believed that the clarification has some significance.

Draft article 14. The revival of terminated or suspended treaties

The present draft articles are without prejudice to the competence of parties to an armed conflict to regulate the question of the maintenance in force or revival of treaties, suspended or terminated as a result of the armed conflict, on the basis of agreement.

Comment

67. This reservation has the specific purpose of dealing with the situation in which the status of "pre-war" agreements is ambiguous and it is necessary to make an overall assessment of the treaty picture. Such an assessment may, in practice, involve the revival of treaties the status of which was ambiguous or which had been treated as though terminated by one or both of the parties. The draft article received general acceptance both in the Commission and in the Sixth Committee.

⁹³ *Ibid.*, 18th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.18), paras. 6–7.

⁹⁴ *Ibid.*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 22.

 $^{^{95}}$ Ibid., Sixty-first Session, Sixth Committee, 19th meeting (A/C.6/61/SR.19), para. 55.

⁹⁶ Ibid., Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee, 11th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.11), para. 42.

⁹⁷ Yearbook ... 2005, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/552.

⁹⁸ Ibid., para. 122.

⁹⁹ Summarized in *Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Sixth Committee*, 20th meeting (A/C.6/60/SR.20), para. 1.

Annex

TEXT OF DRAFT ARTICLES (AS PROPOSED IN THE PRESENT REPORT)

Draft article 1. Scope

The present draft articles apply to the effects of an armed conflict in respect of treaties between States.

Draft article 2. Use of terms

For the purposes of the present draft articles:

- (a) "treaty" means an international agreement concluded between States in written form and governed by international law, whether embodied in a single instrument or in two or more related instruments, and whatever its particular designation;
- (b) "armed conflict" means a state of war or a conflict which involves armed operations which by their nature or extent are likely to affect the operation of treaties between States parties to the armed conflict or between State parties to the armed conflict and third States, regardless of a formal declaration of war or other declaration by any or all of the parties to the armed conflict.

Draft article 3. Non-automatic termination or suspension

The outbreak of an armed conflict does not necessarily terminate or suspend the operation of treaties as:

- (a) between the parties to the armed conflict;
- (b) between one or more parties to the armed conflict and a third State.

Draft article 4. The indicia of susceptibility to termination or suspension of treaties in case of an armed conflict

- 1. The susceptibility to termination or suspension of treaties in case of an armed conflict is determined in accordance with the intention of the parties at the time the treaty was concluded.
- 2. The intention of the parties to a treaty relating to its susceptibility to termination or suspension shall be determined in accordance:
- (a) with the provisions of articles 31 and 32 of the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties; and
- (b) the nature and extent of the armed conflict in question.

Draft article 5. Express provisions on the operation of treaties

Treaties applicable to situations of armed conflict in accordance with their express provisions are operative in case of an armed conflict, without prejudice to the conclusion of lawful agreements between the parties to the armed conflict involving suspension or waiver of the relevant treaties.

Draft article 5 bis. The conclusion of treaties during armed conflict

The outbreak of an armed conflict does not affect the capacity of the parties to the armed conflict to conclude treaties in accordance with the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties.

Draft article 6ª

• •

Draft article 6 bis. The law applicable in armed conflict

The application of standard-setting treaties, including treaties concerning human rights and environmental protection, continues in time of armed conflict, but their application is determined by reference to the applicable *lex specialis*, namely, the law applicable in armed conflict.

Draft article 7. The operation of treaties on the basis of necessary implication from their object and purpose

- 1. In the case of treaties the object and purpose of which involve the necessary implication that they continue in operation during an armed conflict, the incidence of an armed conflict will not as such inhibit their operation.
 - 2. Treaties of this character include the following:
- (a) treaties expressly applicable in case of an armed conflict;
- (b) treaties declaring, creating, or regulating permanent rights or a permanent regime or status;
- (c) treaties of friendship, commerce and navigation and analogous agreements concerning private rights;
 - (d) treaties for the protection of human rights;
- (e) treaties relating to the protection of the environment;
- (f) treaties relating to international watercourses and related installations and facilities;
 - (g) multilateral law-making treaties;
- (h) treaties relating to the settlement of disputes between States by peaceful means, including resort to conciliation, mediation, arbitration and the International Court of Justice;

^a Draft article 6 was withdrawn by the Special Rapporteur.

- (i) obligations arising under multilateral conventions relating to commercial arbitration and the enforcement of awards;
 - (j) treaties relating to diplomatic relations;
 - (k) treaties relating to consular relations.

Draft article 8. Mode of suspension or termination

In case of an armed conflict the mode of suspension or termination shall be the same as in those forms of suspension or termination included in the provisions of articles 42 to 45 of the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties.

Draft article 9. The resumption of suspended treaties

- 1. The operation of a treaty suspended as a consequence of an armed conflict shall be resumed provided that this is determined in accordance with the intention of the parties at the time the treaty was concluded.
- 2. The intention of the parties to a treaty, the operation of which has been suspended as a consequence of an armed conflict, concerning the susceptibility of the treaty to resumption of operation shall be determined in accordance:
- (a) with the provisions of articles 31 and 32 of the Vienna Convention on the law of treaties:
- (b) with the nature and extent of the armed conflict in question.

Draft article 10. Effect of the exercise of the right to individual or collective self-defence on a treaty

A State exercising its rights of individual or collective self-defence in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations is entitled to suspend in whole or in part

the operation of a treaty incompatible with the exercise of that right, subject to any consequences resulting from a later determination by the Security Council of that State as an aggressor.

Draft article 11. Decisions of the Security Council

These articles are without prejudice to the legal effects of decisions of the Security Council in accordance with the provisions of Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations.

Draft article 12. Status of third States as neutrals

The present draft articles are without prejudice to the status of third States as neutrals in relation to an armed conflict.

Draft article 13. Cases of termination or suspension

The present draft articles are without prejudice to the termination or suspension of treaties as a consequence of:

- (a) the agreement of the parties; or
- (b) a material breach; or
- (c) supervening impossibility of performance; or
- (d) a fundamental change of circumstances.

Draft article 14. The revival of terminated or suspended treaties

The present draft articles are without prejudice to the competence of parties to an armed conflict to regulate the question of the maintenance in force or revival of treaties, suspended or terminated as a result of the armed conflict, on the basis of agreement.